BECOMING A GLOBALLY COMPETITIVE PLAYER: THE CASE OF THE MUSIC INDUSTRY IN JAMAICA

Zeljka Kozul-Wright and Lloyd Stanbury

No. 138

October 1998

The authors wish to thank two anonymous referees for their helpful comments.

The opinions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of UNCTAD. The designations and terminology employed are also those of the authors.

UNCTAD Discussion Papers are read anonymously by at least one referee, whose comments are taken into account before publication.

Comments on this paper are invited and should be addressed to the authors, c/o Editorial Assistant*, Macroeconomic and Development Policies, GDS, United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), Palais des Nations, CH-1211 Geneva 10, Switzerland. Copies of the *UNCTAD Review*, *Discussion Papers* and *Reprint Series* may also be obtained from this address. Extracts of new *Discussion Papers* are available on the web site at: http://www.unctad.org/en/pressref/prdis.htm

JEL classification: D200, D210, D290, O310, O320 and O340.

^{*} Tel. 022-907.5733; Fax 907.0274; E.mail: nicole.winch@unctad.org

CONTENTS

Cha	Chapter	
I.	NATIONAL SYSTEM OF INNOVATION	1
II.	THE PRODUCTION PROCESS OF MUSIC PRODUCTS AND SERVICES	5
		_
	A. Recorded music products	5
	1. Recording phase	5
	2. Manufacturing of the finished products3. Marketing and distribution	6 6
	3. Marketing and distribution4. Retailing	6
	B. Services	6
	C. The business of recorded music in developing countries	7
III.	GLOBAL TRENDS: TRADE, TECHNOLOGY AND CONCENTRATION	8
IV.	THE MUSIC INDUSTRY IN THE NATIONAL SYSTEM OF INNOVATION	
	IN JAMAICA	15
	A. Historical evolution of the musical sound	16
	B. The export potential of the music industry	17
	C. Linkages with other sectors in the NSI	19
	D. Globalization of the music industry: impact on the domestic music industry	20
	E. Music industry revenues	21
	F. Current industrial structure of the Jamaican music industry	23
	G. Opportunities for creative partnerships	24
V.	NSI AND THE MUSIC INDUSTRY	26
	A. Local institutional players	26
	B. Product development through innovation	27
	C. New technology and product development	27
	D. Foreign investment	28
	E. Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) and new technologies	28
	F. Identification of the main challenges for the industry's development	29
VI.	NSI IN JAMAICA: POLICY OPTIONS	31
REF	ERENCES	33

BECOMING A GLOBALLY COMPETITIVE PLAYER: THE CASE OF THE MUSIC INDUSTRY IN JAMAICA

Zeljka Kozul-Wright and Lloyd Stanbury *

A central issue in the determinants of competitiveness concerns the decision by firms to make investments relating to technology and innovation. Economists are divided on this issue. On the one hand, main-stream neoclassical analysis sees this as a straightforward decision on the part of firms based on their profit maximizing calculus in response to market signals. On the other hand, the neo-Schumpeterian school interprets innovation as a much more uncertain process guided by a mixture of market and non-market signals and resulting from collective learning and selection processes (Kozul-Wright, 1995).

The concept of a National System of Innovation (NSI) extends the neo-Schumpeterian analysis by linking the enterprises' decisions to innovate to "a network of institutions, public and private whose actions initiate, import, modify and diffuse new technologies" (Nelson, 1993). The NSI approach seeks to explain the determinants of technical change and organizational innovations as endogenous factors in the economic system. It also allows for a comparison of different institutional arrangements which guide the innovative process favourable to economic growth.

This paper uses the NSI approach to examine the prospects for industrial development in Jamaica, a small middle-income developing country. It argues that the present state of the Jamaican NSI is not adequately developed to provide the necessary support to ensure that one of its key emerging industries – the music sector – becomes competitive on global markets. It suggests various policy options aimed at industrial upgrading and better integration with those markets. The type of applied research presented here is highly original and speaks to a wider audience, as it represents a novel attempt to operationalize the concept of NSI in a developing country context, with particular reference to the music and entertainment sector, which is not traditionally treated in the NSI context. This sector, however, has been selected as one of the leading emerging sectors for the Jamaican economy identified in its national industrial policy.

I. NATIONAL SYSTEM OF INNOVATION

There is a growing consensus that the ability of a country to sustain rapid economic growth over the long run is highly dependent on the effectiveness with which its institutions (or clusters of institutions) and policies support the technological progress and innovativeness of its enterprises. Such institutions and policies are already firmly in place in most advanced industrial economies having evolved gradually over the course of this century. Developing countries, whose science and technology institutions are, for the most part, of much more recent vintage, tend to be more fragmented, uncoordinated and poorly adapted to meeting local industry's needs. Consequently, a fresh approach linked to policy reform is needed to enable developing countries to assess their performance in this domain, exchange experiences and make tangible improvements.¹

^{*} From, respectively, the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), Geneva, and the Entertainment Industry Advisory Council, Kingston, Jamaica.

For an elaboration of the NSI concept and its application to developing countries, see UNCTAD (1998a).

Adopting an NSI perspective implies a new understanding of innovation as a dynamic process, in which enterprises, in close interaction with one another, play the key role in bringing new products, processes and forms of organization into economic use. But firms do not act in isolation. Other important players in this process interacting with firms are universities, technological institutes, research and development (R&D) centres, other "bridging institutions" (such as technology or innovation centres), technology incubators, industry associations, institutions involved in education and training, as well as those involved in the financing of innovation. This paper underscores the interactive nature of the innovative process in which the complementary practices and capabilities of all agents in NSI exert a direct impact on the ability of firms to compete through innovation.

The concept of innovation in the developing world requires a rather broad interpretation, one which encompasses the processes by which firms master and apply product designs and manufacturing processes that are new to them, or even to the nation, if not to the world. This definition includes incremental as well as radical or generic innovations, but tends to focus on the former. Innovation thus becomes a process wherein individuals, strategic alliances, supplier networks and organizations take new initiatives which exploit the knowledge-base of their economy (UNCTAD, 1998; Lundvall, 1993).² Innovation represents the commercial application of new knowledge or the combination of old knowledge in radically novel ways. Such activity, whilst disrupting existing economic routines – and the associated firms, practices and factors of production – will improve the competitive position of the firm, or the broader productive unit in which it is introduced, by creating new markets, thereby advancing the technological regime or establishing new linkages between product producers and users (UNCTAD, 1998). As such, innovation is a permanent and endogenous feature of economic development which characterizes "the processes by which firms master and implement the design and production of goods and services that are new to them, irrespective of whether or not they are new to their competitors – domestic or foreign" (Ernst et al., 1998). Although scientific and technological development constitutes one of the key sources of industrial development and competitiveness, most developing countries have a poorly developed technological infrastructure and weak linkages between their R&D systems and the productive sectors of their economies.

In contrast to the traditional supply-oriented approaches to innovation, which adopted an essentially static approach by focusing on the output of science and technology (S&T) institutions (e.g. publications, patents), this study highlights the use and the value of those S&T outputs to other producers. From its perspective, innovation policy, not only aims to build on the importance of user-producer interactions and

See Nelson (1993) and Lundvall (1992). Our definition of innovation refers directly back to Schumpeter's, where the sources of competition in capitalist economies do not arise from lower prices for the same product, but from "new consumer goods, new methods of production, or transportation, new markets, new forms of industrial organization that capitalist enterprise creates" (Schumpeter, 1987).

flows, but also is seen as part of a set of complementary policies, whose interaction will affect the larger environment within which firms make innovation decisions.

The objectives of the study are manifold, inter alia: (i) to evaluate the innovative performance of the music sector with a view to realizing the export potential of the music industry by reviewing the institutional dynamics based on linkages and interactions between the key agents in the national system of innovation (i.e. the public sector, formal S&T sector, financial sector) and how these interactions impact upon the industry's performance in a dynamic context. A related aim is to explore the institutional links between this sector and the NSI and to explore how these could change over time; (ii) to identify the strengths and weaknesses of this sector's technological performance, in particular of the music product, by identifying factors which could enhance or impede the industry's innovative potential; (iii) to evaluate Jamaica's present technology policy aimed at enhancing innovation-based competitiveness in one of its strategic sectors, namely music and entertainment with a view to the upgrading of Jamaica's manufacturing and exporting capabilities; (iv) to offer suggestions and recommendations aimed at the creation of a congenial environment which would foster the industry's development through the NSI approach, which proposes an alternative institutional design conducive to enterprise-based innovation. This is to be accomplished through development of policy recommendations aimed at upgrading of domestic enterprise-level capabilities.

Our primary data originate from over 100 firm-based interviews and surveys conducted in Jamaica over a one-year period (1996-1997), of the key players in Jamaica's NSI and its music industry. The sample of over 100 industry-wide players included individuals and institutions directly involved with the industry, including the songwriters, musicians, performers, producers, managers, publishers, promoters, broadcasters, merchants, distributors, entertainment attorneys and individuals in the public sector charged with the industry's development, responsible government officials, private sector individuals, members of the financial community, music school personnel, officials in training institutes, and other key individuals involved in the industry. These include interviews with individuals not only in Jamaica but also distributors in the United Kingdom, United States and several European countries.

An assessment of Jamaica's NSI can hardly be attempted without prior consideration of the new policy of economic openness centred on liberalization, deregulation and privatization to Jamaica's development prospects. The opening up of the economy in the 1990s led to a major increase in the competitive pressure of foreign firms on all Jamaican industries. The initial impact on the balance of payments and on employment has been far from positive. However, the objective of the new policy is to take advantage of these competitive pressures and the new trading opportunities to stimulate technological innovation and business capabilities in Jamaican firms and thus enable them to compete in the global market. This has been accompanied by a profound reorientation of the role of government from one based on dirigisme and direct intervention in the economy to a proactive role which favours the

creation of an appropriate institutional framework aimed at enhancing the capabilities of the private sector to compete in the international arena.

Failures in inputs markets, such as skills and other dimensions of education and training, are widely acknowledged to exist everywhere (Lall, 1995). Practically all governments undertake a whole range of interventions in their education and training systems to overcome these market failures. Moreover, as international technology markets are fragmented and highly imperfect, governments of developing countries should look for ways to help their enterprises to find, bargain for and transfer new technologies that do not violate the international agreements signed at the Uruguay Round (Lall, 1995). Support to domestic enterprises is particularly required in the area of provision of information and assistance with bargaining with multinational corporations (MNCs) – which represents an important source of learning in the technology transfer and technological capability-building process.

Previously it was believed that technological innovation was a linear process that began with scientific research which was subsequently passed on to industry. In contrast to this unidirectional interpretation of innovation, it is now recognized that the nature of innovation, as well as our understanding of it, has radically altered. Technological changes often provide insights to those engaged in scientific research and vice versa. Indeed, since many innovations involve incremental improvements in technical performance, product quality, product design, or simply learning how to manufacture an already existing product, it is clear that identifying the users and producers of an innovation is difficult while the sources of innovation itself are often multiple, unpredictable and highly uncertain.

Historically all governments have intervened in the market place in support of the production of this service. Across all industrialized countries, the field of culture has been subsidized heavily. The prerequisite of a successful modern industry has been the existence of a supportive regulatory framework for the industry's development (e.g. an appropriate IPR regime). The change in perception of the music product as merely an expression of art and culture towards a commercial product has already occurred in many developing countries. This is particularly the case in countries where the service sector has experienced fast growth. Developing countries need to diversify across the whole range of goods and services, in order to take the full advantage of today's new trading opportunities offered by the latest set of Uruguay Round negotiations. Extensive literature on the economic contribution of the music industry in industrialized countries indicates that in all success cases of commercialization of creative or artistic works, policy played an instrumental role in the evolution of these industries, although the nature and character of this process varied significantly among countries and regions (Baumol and Bowen, 1987; Vogel, 1998; Coase, 1966; Alexander, 1994; Fink, 1989; Shaw, 1987; Toll, 1982; EC, 1993; Dyson et al., 1988).

II. THE PRODUCTION PROCESS OF MUSIC PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

There are at least 16 separate and clearly identifiable functions involved in the music business: namely, singers, musicians, songwriters, producers, audio engineers, publishers, record manufacturers, promoters, managers, disc jockeys (radio, club and sound system) booking agents, venue operators, merchandise manufacturers, entertainment attorneys, distributors and retailers. Combined, the abovementioned activities result in the production and provision of most of the products and services available in the business of music.

A. Recorded music products

Despite much crossover and integration among separate activities, there are four distinct phases of the recorded music business, i.e. recording, manufacturing, marketing cum distribution and retailing phases. Let us briefly summarize the key activities involved in each phase.

1. Recording phase

The first phase of the process involves the making of a master recording of a musical work whereby singers, musicians, songwriters, sound engineers and record producers assemble in a recording studio in order to produce a master recording (studio recording facilities are generally rented). This completes the first phase of the music making process.

The record producer is usually the owner of the master recording (but not the song itself, which remains the property of the creators by virtue of the law of copyright). The commercial exploitation of the recording and the song incorporated in the recording normally generates income by way of royalties. Royalties generated from the exploitation of the recording are shared amongst the producer and the artist, while royalties from the exploitation of the song are shared between the creator (songwriter) and the publishers. The publisher, by virtue of song-writing agreements, secures rights to administer the copyrights on behalf of the songwriters. Publishers and songwriters usually secure the services of music agencies, such as the Performing Rights Society (PRS), American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers (ASCAP), Mechanical Copyright Protection Society (MCPS) and the Harry Fox Agency, to deal copyright collection with the issuance of licenses for the use of musical works and the collection and distribution of royalties generated from the use of the works.

The record producer's responsibility is usually to finance the cost of the studio recording process and to coordinate the activities of songwriters, singers, musicians, and recording engineers in the recording

studio. The master recording which results from the studio recording sessions is usually the property of the record producer.

2. Manufacturing of the finished products

Following the completion of the master recording, the record producer, who owns the particular sound recording of the song in question, enters into an agreement with a manufacturer or distributor, who is generally given the right to manufacture and distribute the finished product in the form of vinyl records, cassettes, compact discs, mini discs or digital compact discs (DCDs). This is the second stage of the process, which is usually done at a record manufacturing facility or plant, such as a CD-pressing or manufacturing plant, or a vinyl or cassette tape manufacturing facility. At this plant, hundreds or even thousands of copies are made for the mass market. Such a facility could be either physically separate or under one roof with the recording studios discussed in phase I. This phase is considered to be the least costly part of the process on a per unit basis, once the physical plant and equipment are set up. The latter is characterized by high capital costs requirements.

3. Marketing and distribution

The third phase of the recorded music process involves marketing and distribution of the finished products. It is common for marketing and distribution of finished products to be "handled" by the same entity. The process consists of bringing the product to the final consumer and to the necessary promotion and advertising required to sell the product. Both promotion and adverting are very costly and are frequently undertaken by one entity. This is usually the most capital-intensive phase, owing to high costs of advertising and promotion.

4. Retailing

Retailing is typically conducted by different companies from those found in previous phases although not always. There is much variation. Retailers can either be small or large, e.g. in the United States large retail chains, such as Sam Goody's, Tower Records, Virgin, HMV and others. Being close to the final consumers, retailers are sensitive to the changing market demand patterns and can exert an influence on all the three preceding phases. Retailers can also play an important role in the third phase of the process (especially marketing) and normally command a high mark up for their services.

B. Services

While the production and sale of recorded music involves the rendering of services by entities and individuals such as musicians, singers, producers, publishers, distributors and retailers, there are a number of music business activities which entail the provision of services only, with no commodities or goods being produced. These strict service activities may be categorized as: (a) creative services; (b) technical services; and (c) representational services. Creative services include the provision of concert performance services by singers, musicians and audio engineers, which are rendered both locally and internationally. Technical services include the provision of recording studio rental facilities, sound and lighting reinforcement for concerts, and concert venue rentals. The area of representational services consists of a wide variety of activities, including the functions of artist personal manager, artist business manager, booking agent, publicist, legal counsel, and music publisher.

The service sector of music business in Jamaica is particularly important because of its potential for employment for a large number of service providers. The service sector also enjoys the advantage of freedom of movement throughout the global economy as service providers are able to render services relatively freely anywhere in the world. In addition, while most master recordings are still produced in North America, Western Europe and Japan, several major and large independent record companies have sought to engage the services and facilities of recording studios and recording personnel, such as musicians and audio engineers, in developing countries in an effort to obtain the music flavour of these countries to produce their master recordings in the increasing quest to diversify the recorded music product. Many foreign artists have recorded their music products in Jamaican recording studios, using Jamaican music-related services.

C. The business of recorded music in developing countries

In terms of the differences in the recording processes between developing and developed market economies, record producers from developing countries normally do not participate in the manufacturing and distribution phases, which account for the greater portion of the value-added chain. Instead, record producers normally receive royalties from the sale of finished product, averaging between 10 and 15 percent of the retail price, depending on the provisions of the agreements entered into the distributors, or the record companies.

In most developing countries, the above described process in the recording industry occurs differently from the norm in developed countries (with the exception of very large countries, such as Brazil, India and People's Republic of China). In many developing countries, adequate facilities exist for

the recording phase of the process. However, in the manufacturing phase, major differences can be observed. For example, producers of music products in developing countries do not have adequate access to manufacturing facilities for the CD format (currently the dominant format accounting for approximately 70 per cent of global sales). Manufacturing facilities in most developing countries are not equivalent to those found in the developed world, in part owing to technological and other differences in productive assets. Their facilities, on the average, tend to be far less equipped and up-to-date than those in most developed market economies. However, the most striking contrast occurs in the marketing, distribution and retailing phases, where the developing countries are generally "at the mercy" of the major record companies, especially in regards to activities in mature markets. Most producers from developing countries face similar market conditions as do small independent labels in mature markets, namely, they do not have the financial muscle to underwrite large scale manufacturing or to assume the financial risks inherent in launching new recordings (EC, 1993). A further notable difference relates to the striking absence of institutions and organizations in support of the industry in most developing countries (lobbying and interest groups).³

In the area of enforcement and administration of copyrights there are also significant differences between activities in developed and developing countries. In many developing countries, the process of modernization of copyright law has progressed at a very slow pace and schemes for collective administration of copyrights and neighbouring rights are underdeveloped. Music piracy continues to be rampant in these countries resulting in significant reductions in income generated within the legitimate income stream.

III. GLOBAL TRENDS: TRADE, TECHNOLOGY AND CONCENTRATION

Accelerated growth of output of recorded music has been amply documented, and is tightly interwoven with the introduction and application of new technologies, which have vastly increased the size of markets through media such channels as radio, TV, films, VCRs, etc. (Krasilovksy and Shemel, 1995). The growth of electronic media has stimulated the production of music products, leading to the establishment of new markets and vast trading opportunities. The industry is, however, marked by highly uneven patterns of geographic distribution. While the United States still remains the largest location of production as well as the most important market for musical output, this dominance has gradually eroded

For example, in the United Kingdom there are numerous entities and organizations, be it public, private, or mixed ownership in the music industry, such as the PPL (Phonographic Performance Ltd.), PRS (Performing Rights Society), MCPS (Mechanical Copyright Protection Society); Music Rights; The Guild of Producers, Directors and Engineers (Repro), BPI (British Phonographic Industry), Musicians' Union, PAMRA-PPL, as well as their international counterparts, such as the IFPI (London).

over the last decade. The *relative* amount of media output produced and consumed in the United States is declining, creating new windows of opportunity for developing countries, especially those with enhanced sound-recording productive capacity. This process is presently being stimulated by increased commercialization of the media services which could spell the end of the traditional "one-way" trade in music products (UNCTAD, 1996b).

Globalization of the world economy is characterized by the following trends: (a) international-ization of production; (b) concentration combined with segmentation; (c) deindustrialization: a shift from manufacturing into services; and (d) competition based on knowledge-intensive products (UNCTAD, 1995a). The music industry typifies these trends particularly in terms of deindustrializ-ation and concentration. The global music industry is currently dominated by five major record companies: Polygram/Universal, WEA (Warner Electra Atlantic), Sony, BMG and EMI - which together have a combined output at the level of distribution of over 80 per cent of the US market share (Alexander, 1994). Recently, however, it has been noted that the balance of power in the entertainment industry is not only shifting amongst the major record companies themselves, but also the regional balance of power is expected to change in the next decade. Control still, however, remains with the 5 majors despite the emergence of small- and medium-sized independent distributors that have now become a considerable force. In the United States in 1997, the market share of independently distributed labels as a whole exceeded that of WEA. The strongest among this group of independents include such labels as Zomba, Edel, Play it Again Sam, and Rock, which have all firmly established themselves as powerhouses. Recent developments in the production and delivery of audiovisual services suggest major changes in the developing world, which are also shifting the traditional power structures, offering new opportunities for the developing countries exporters'. This is especially so in the Asian, Latin American and Eastern European markets (*The Economist*, 13 January 1998 (UNCTAD, 1998).

Western markets are characterized by an insatiable demand for novelty exemplified by the growing demand for World Music genre. Based on the experiences of the last two decades, it is predicted that significant market opportunities for music from developing countries will not only continue to exist but grow. It is also assumed that technology – the catalyst for change in this sector – will keep on reducing the prices for media products. These claims are further based on the assumption that technology in this sector will follow the present trends, namely both the price of the final music product as well as that of production and distribution technology will continue to decrease owing to the fast pace of technical change. Moreover, entertainment technology is likely to become not only cheaper, but smaller and more accessible worldwide. The present trends are expected to continue, as income, leisure time and technical change continue to stimulate both the demand and the supply of all media services, including music. There is no indication that these trends will be reversed in the 21st century. Such developments in technology will have obvious implications on the present market structures of the media industries. Increasingly the

global media conglomerates are operating on a worldwide scale. In terms of market structure, it has been suggested that the typical size of a productive unit is likely to diminish and for the industry to become even more fragmented. Internationalization of the music industry would not be possible without the application of ITs and digital technologies. This is an industry which is driven by technical change both as regards production based technologies, as well as new distribution technologies, e.g. video-based technologies, fibre optic cables, etc. The diffusion of ICT has exerted a profound impact on the industry's development and continues to do so unabated (see MBI, 1998; Krasilovsky and Shemel, 1995; UNCTAD, 1996b; EC, 1997; Vogel, 1998.

The music sector represents a growing part of the audio visual service industry worldwide, which is characterized by a tremendous growth potential. This can be in part accounted for as a result of more fragmented demand in global markets and niche marketing. The emergence of a global market for the media industry is also related to increased market and competitive pressure (Parisotto, 1997). The all powerful media MNCs are searching to contract out activities in order to save on costs, improve product quality and increase market shares. Previous studies have identified increased cross-border activity in all media industries over the last decade, which have accounted for a growing share of their output and revenues. Both supply and demand factors account for these changes. On the supply side, the following forces have been identified as being critical in inducing the new developments: (a) technological change, particularly on the distribution end; (e.g. cable and satellite transmission, application of information and digital technologies); (b) deregulation of the media services in most countries; and (c) change in the leading firms' strategic behaviour.⁴ As these forces are closely interrelated it is almost impossible to determine causality, yet the combination of these forces has resulted in increased globalization of all media services, including production and especially distribution of music (Parisotto, 1997).

The global music business is characterized by intense competition among a small group of large conglomerates whose market share approximates 70 per cent and has remained relatively constant over the years. However, it is claimed that smaller firms and new entrants could in the future affect the dominance of the major record companies by successfully bypassing the significant entry barriers in the areas of distribution and marketing by going directly to retail and end-users via the Internet. Music industry sources claim that in the 21st century, the Internet is likely to represent the most important new channel of promotion and distribution. Since online services can be generated and accessed from anywhere in the world, this presents a major problem for the administration of copyrights.⁵

Although full implications of trading via Internet are not yet fully known, they are becoming clearer (MBI, 1998). Practically all of the major record companies are currently launching websites and are

Present trends towards internationalization of the media activities have been discussed in Parisotto (1997).

⁵ For discussion of commerce in the European Communities, see EC (1997).

offering online services; some of which already provide mail order services while others offer material which can be directly downloaded. Electronic commerce already offers new trading opportunities for many developing country producers, not only for the purposes of distribution but also marketing and promotion. Well informed industry sources predict that Internet will dramatically change the music industry over the next decade, comparable to the "CD revolution" of the 1980s:6 by the year 2002 online sales of prerecorded music, it has been estimated, will amount to \$US 1.6 billion, or 7.5 per cent of the global music market. The Internet option is more likely to affect final sales in the United States than anywhere else, owing to its widespread application. It is highly likely that the US-based producers will try to thwart competition from outside "cyber-invaders". Measures, however, should be employed to ensure that such practices be curtailed, preferably through international regulation.

The global music business is a multi billion dollar segment of the media industries, and has been growing at a high rate, from US\$ 26 billion in 1991 to almost \$40 billion in 1996. Existing data indicates a 700 per cent increase in 12 years (from 1980-1992), in trade in sound recordings. This suggests a far larger volume of trade in sound recordings in the 1990s, compared to any other segment of the media industries (UN, various years). Although this still represents only a small percentage of overall world trade, it indicates a fast rate of growth of this segment of the service industries. The music industry contributes significantly to the GDP in most industrialized economies. For example in the United States, the copyright industries (including music), account for 6 per cent of the GDP, for 5 per cent of employment and rival the automobile industry in terms of sales. In the UK export earnings from the music sector exceed those of the steel industry. The most significant emerging trader is Asia. The main economic activities in the music sector are: sale of recorded music, concert performances, sale of music-related merchandise, radio and television programming, motion picture soundtracks and advertising.

The size of global demand for music products in general is immense. For example, over 99 per cent of US households, 60 per cent in the United Kingdom, and over 75 per cent in Japan own radios, television and video cassette recorders (PIOJ, 1996). Already, there are 10,200 commercial radio and television stations in the United States; 200 commercial radio stations; 18 terrestrial TV stations and 57 cable satellite stations in the United Kingdom and 2,000 in Japan (Krasilovsky and Shemel, 1995). In 1993, the InternationalFederation of Phonographic Industry (IFPI) estimated that sales of prerecorded music would top one billion units in that year. By 1996, world sales had increased to 3.7 billion units and US\$ 40 billion. Compact discs (CDs) represent the largest and fastest growing segment of the market, with CD players found in 43 per cent of US households and 28 per cent of European households. By 1996, CD sales accounted for 61 per cent of units of prerecorded music sold worldwide. During 1991-1996, the world

While immediate change in the present structure of distribution is not likely, it has been suggested that Internet will "render as artificial the distinction between performance, broadcast and distribution. This will have dramatic implications on the industry" (interview with Jupiter Communications, 1998).

market displayed an annual growth rate of 5 per cent, whether measured by units sold or real value. Over the same period, the real value of CD sales averaged 17 per cent annual growth, whereas the sales of cassette tapes fell by 1 per cent per year.

Recent demographic studies indicate an increase in the ageing population, with more resources to buy music products. Expansion of leisure time, in most developed market economies and new trends which indicate that more adults than ever before are buying music products, contribute to the growing demand for entertainment and for the music product. It is anticipated that demand for music products will continue to increase. Although developed countries remain the largest markets, developing countries have begun to make a significant contribution to the overall growth of demand and in 1995-1996 actually contributed more than half the increase in overall global demand in prerecorded music sales. The fastest growing region in 1996 was Latin America with a 20 per cent increase in units and 25 per cent in real value. There is a special interest shown in particular for music from Cuba (IFPI, 1997). Music sales are expected to increase 4 per cent per annum in the EU, 1 per cent per annum in North America, 17 per cent per annum in Asia and 30 per cent per annum in Eastern Europe (EC, 1997).

Conditions of global demand for the music product are considered very favourable in the long run. Despite short run cyclical movements, the trend is likely to be so in the future. Current trends in sales of recorded music indicate that there is a slowing down in the more mature markets of Western Europe, United States, and Japan – this trend, however, is offset by the emergence of new markets in developing countries in Eastern Europe, Asia and Latin America (*The Economist*, 13 January 1998). The audiovisual market in developing countries is potentially enormous, and although hard data are not available, evidence would strongly suggest that globalization of the media industry is increasingly reaching the developing world.

In Latin America and Asia record sales are expanding the fastest. Yet these regions are the ones where profitability is under intense pressure owing to rampant piracy.⁸ In terms of the economic impact of the industry, projections for the year 2003 are for global sales of \$US 50.7 billion. In 1996 Japan accounted for 16 per cent of world sales of recorded music, the European Union represented around 30 per cent, while the United States still leads with 35 per cent of world sales (EC, 1997).

The current degree of industry concentration mentioned above, poses a serious challenge to producers from the developing world aspiring to enter and conquer new markets. The current global industrial structure is characterized by oligopolistic competition by the five major companies and by high capital and technological barriers to entry in the post-production phase (Alexander, 1994). However, in

See Parisotto (1997); The Economist, 13 January 1998; The Financial Times, 13 January 1998.

It is predicted that the global music industry is entering a period of slower growth, compared to the 1980s decade, which was marked by tremendous growth performance (*Financial Times*, 13 January 1998).

recent times, there have been a number of encouraging market developments discussed below whose impact upon the industry's performance in developing countries needs to be explored further. Despite the high levels of concentration and control in distribution and marketing by the five major multinational conglomerates, some encouraging new developments, in particular those associated with application of new technologies, have emerged which offer new trading opportunities for the music-exporting countries. For example:

- (i) The rapid rates of application of information and digital technologies in production, marketing and distribution, including the Internet (online retailing and downloading) has profoundly changed the industry in the last decade. Online delivery of music is expected to boom in the 21st century. Although at present digital music sales are limited to small trials, it is expected that the market will take off this year and be worth US\$1.64 billion. Warner, Sony and other TNCs are already offering online music sales in some European countries, such as Germany (Financial Times, 21 January 1998). New digital technologies have exerted a powerful impact on the industry, in particular new distribution technologies (cable TV, satellite transmission, video-cassette recorders and others) which are enabling larger audiences and increased cross-border activities. Expansion of electronic media in other aspects of the industry has been universal. The Internet is already considered an important additional distribution medium of the future, offering endless new possibilities for distribution by independent producers thereby creating new windows of opportunity to music-exporting developing countries that allow them to bypass the traditional distribution and retail systems normally controlled by the major record companies. Although some developing countries are already using this facility effectively, much room exists for expansion at national and regional levels. Many developing countries could reap substantial gains from entertainment services, in terms of employment, foreign exchange earnings, and other indirect effects which accompany exporting. These are especially important for small market economies, where new production arrangements, such as international subcontracting, provide new ways to build up the domestic music and media sectors.
- (ii) There are opportunities for rapid growth in music services, and consequently earnings. On the demand side, owing to wide diffusion of information technologies, and media channels, the music market responds quicker and more than ever to changes in variables such as income elasticity, consumer preferences, demographic shifts and fashion trends associated with largely marketing trends. The increased demand for entertainment in general and for "world music" in particular are likely to positively affect growth in music services.

- (iii) IPRs-TRIPS: The strengthening of international copyright legislation (although enforcement remains a major problem); and other changes in the regulatory environment associated with deregulation and liberalization of the government regulations in the media service sector, as well as the more liberal media policies adopted by most governments have created a better environment for the development of music business enterprises. Simultaneously, however, there is an increasingly worrying factor in the industry which relates to the weakening of traditional copyright protection mechanisms, owing to widespread application of digital diffusion, which has exerted a profound impact on the industry. It is argued that copyright legislation needs to be modified in the light of new technological developments, as the legal mechanisms for enforcing copyright protection for music distributed by digital means are presently very weak. Presently existing music copyright collective administration systems operate on the basis of licensing for use within prescribed domestic boundaries, while online services are linked to international networks (EC, 1997).
- (iv) Owing to the nature of the product (a consumer article of "fashion") and enhanced productive capacities of the fast growing developing countries, some developing countries are beginning to make an entry on lucrative markets of industrialized countries and fill the important market niche (predominantly in down- and mid-stream activities). Increasingly new investments in the industry are taking place in South East Asia.
- (v) Developments in marketing and advertising (exploration of new strategies, such as niche marketing, etc.);
- (vi) Increased availability of media channels, which enhance the products' marketing and distribution:
- (vii) Although pop and rock genres predominate worldwide, global demand for "world music" is increasing in the mature markets saturated with standardized, techno-music dominance;
- (viii) Emergence of new musical genres world-wide, thereby creating additional demand for the music product;
- (ix) Emergence of new markets in the 1990s, particularly in Asia, East and central Europe, Latin America and Africa.

Calculating the overall economic impact of the music industry in developing countries is very difficult, owing to the highly disorganized nature of the industry, which often tends to be located in the informal sector. Additionally, the lack of respect for copyright results in rampant piracy, and demoralization of local music creators. There are also highly asymmetric relations amongst the different industry participants (differential access to productive assets) and the predominance of anarchic and rent seeking behaviour throughout the entire process.

Most music exporting developing countries face severe barriers to entry into global markets in sound recordings, associated with high degrees of market concentration (see Parisotto, 1997; UNCTAD, 1998). Particularly in the area of traditional marketing and distribution, with high sunk costs and capital requirements, music-exporting developing countries face considerable challenges. Enhancing their export capabilities and employing new marketing and distribution techniques could provide the way out of the constraints associated with small domestic market size and diseconomies of scale. A certain minimum efficiency in production is nevertheless required prior to entering foreign markets. It is claimed that new trading markets and trading opportunities have been opened up by globalization and internationalization of the media industries and that the application of new IT (information technologies) and digital technologies has played a critical part in this process. The 21st century heralds yet another Schumpeterian gale of technological changes, in particular associated with application of information and telecommunication technologies or ICTs, especially the Internet. These major new technological trajectories will change the way music is produced, reproduced and distributed. "... the potential for creation, for enjoyment and use of music has never been greater" (Vogel, 1998). Widespread diffusion of ICTs in every aspect of the highly amorphous industry has propelled the globalization of the music industry. Simultaneously, the same technological advances which have enabled the industry's massive growth and development, have adversely impacted it through massive increases in piracy and boot-legging (particularly a problem in developing countries with weak enforcement mechanisms). Piracy is presently occurring at an unprecedented pace, since new technologies have made it so easy to copy. The music business is fraught with challenges which of course makes it very exciting. It is business that never stops changing and the next century is not likely to see a reduction in those challenges.

The ownership structure and international activities of the five major record companies provide a clear indication of the global nature of the business of music. Over the past 10 years there have been a number of mergers and takeovers by large TNCs from all over the world resulting in an ownership structure as follows; Polygram/Universal owned by the Canadian drinks conglomerate Seagram, Sony/CBS owned by the Japanese Sony Corporation, WEA (Warner Electra Atlantic) owned by the American Time Warner, BMG owned by the German Bertelsmann group and EMI owned by the British company EMI. All the above-mentioned companies conduct their global activities through branch offices and joint ventures in the United States, Europe, Japan, Latin America and more recently Asia.

IV. THE MUSIC INDUSTRY IN THE NATIONAL SYSTEM OF INNOVATION IN JAMAICA

Entertainment services represent an expanding economic activity in Jamaica. The service sector is the fastest growing sector in most developing countries and the entertainment industry forms a growing segment of this sector (UNCTAD, 1998). Over the past two decades, the service sector in Jamaica has experienced rapid growth rates, with the fastest increase in labour employment accounting for the largest proportion of the total national output. As stated in its *National Industrial Policy* (OPM, 1996), the government recognized not only the economic significance of the entertainment industry but also its importance as an expression of the richness of Jamaican culture.

The basic development challenge facing the Jamaican economy is one common to many other middle-income developing countries. On the one hand, competition has grown from low-wage producers, particularly in Asia, but also elsewhere in Latin America, in a number of its traditional exporting activities (such as agricultural and mineral commodities), and on the other, in higher value-added products (apparel), Jamaica has yet to match the quality required to enter new markets. In its traditional sectors, Jamaica can no longer rely on cost advantages, but it must compete increasingly through diversification and innovation – namely product and process development and the upgrading of its technological capabilities towards higher value-added activities which utilize more capital, skill and technology-intensive exporting activities. This process may entail shifts within the same sector or moves into another sector, like services (especially the audiovisual segment of services, in which Jamaica already has a comparative advantage) which can provide a viable alternative. As highlighted by its *National Industrial Policy*, the music sector has been identified as one of Jamaica's leading emerging sectors with significant growth and export potential.

The Jamaican music sector is characterized by a dual industrial structure, with a small minority of well known artists who have "made it" in international markets, such as Jimmy Cliff, Shaggy, Inner Circle, Ini Kamoze, Patra, Third World, Diana King, and Buju Banton, who operate under modern competitive conditions analogous to those found in the rest of the developed world. However, the majority of local musicians, artists and producers function under far less organized and fortuitous circumstances. In addition to inadequate financial structures to support the industry, there is an absence of formal market institutional structures within the industry itself. At present, the industry is highly fragmented, characterized largely by small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) and micro enterprise production units

The work in this section was in part carried out in collaboration with Jenny Holland (see UNCTAD, 1998a, ch. 2).

For one set of industry data, see SIJ (1996).

comprised of many differentiated performing artists. There is no accurate count of the number of players in the industry for example, since many companies are neither legal nor taxable entities, often operating from home rather than an official business address. There is a plethora of Jamaican producers and recording studios; "Jamaica has at least 50 studios of which 20 may be classified as major", while it would be far more efficient to have only a few modern, technologically up-to-date, well managed ones that match international standards.

Other vital services providing artist management, promotion, marketing, stage management, audio engineering, and finance also vary enormously in their operational and organizational capacity. Small companies in the music business are characterized by little division of labour and no vertical or horizontal integration whereas some larger companies are fairly well organized and have incorporated strategic planning skills. An analogous situation applies to *distribution*, which remains highly chaotic and characterized by rent-seeking behaviour. Distribution in Jamaica is characterized by sales activities primarily within the boundaries of the Island with some limited exports of vinyl and cassette products to the United Kingdom, Japan, North America and the Caribbean. Large local distributors, such as Sonic Sounds, Dynamics and Tuff Gong, face stringent competition from major foreign distributors. The industry is severely handicapped by poor marketing and distribution channels, which represents a major bottleneck to increased market shares. Joint ventures should be encouraged with medium-sized international distributors.

A. Historical evolution of the musical sound

The domestic music industry has traditionally been a part of the subculture of the Jamaican society, previously associated with drugs, violence and anti-establishment counter-culture. Consequently, there has been a resistance to main streaming the industry in many sections of the society and a reluctance to market the image of *reggae* with Jamaica. The music product has historically been evolving. A variety of new forms have evolved from the traditional reggae sound, like *lovers rock*, *dub music* — which is pure instrumental reggae, *dance hall and roots and culture*, which are the more prominent among the contemporary reggae formats. Although no contemporary reggae star has gained the international fame of Bob Marley, nevertheless performers like Gregory Isaacs, Burning Spear, Jimmy Cliff, Third World, and other musicians and performers sell hundreds of thousands of records worldwide.

Despite reggae's initial success in the 1970s, for the past 25 years the music community has felt ostracized and disrespected, breeding isolation and separation from the development of the Jamaican economy. Reggae's roots in poor, local communities, associated with a 'class' of Jamaicans has up to date not been accepted by mainstream Jamaican society. An attitude of 'them and us' has become

entrenched, constructing barriers to effective cooperation between the government and the industry. The lingering effect of the old colonial mentality, where only certain professions were considered "respectable", still prevail in many sectors of the society, such as the financial sector, which continue to pose a significant barrier to the industry's development. Currently the Jamaican music industry is largely underfunded, owing to the lack of investment and linkages between actors within the industry and the wider economic environment (NSI), such as financial institutions and other business support services.

Jamaican music has grown out of poor communities within which it is still deeply rooted. The challenge for the government and the industry is to develop partnerships and bridging institutions which enable the talent in local communities to reach export markets and build links with national, regional and international markets. Music and Jamaica have been closely associated for a long time. And although the quantity of production continues to be very prolific, declining quality standards and weak sales imply an urgent need to challenge and reverse these unfavourable trends. In order for the innovative and consequent export potential to be realized, the current non-supportive cultural and political values in the society need to be reconsidered. The music industry needs to be recognized as an important foreign exchange earner for the economy.

B. The export potential of the music industry

The most dynamic segment of Jamaica's entertainment industry is unquestionably its world famous music. Although this sector represents a vibrant and a dynamic segment of the Jamaican economy, it currently does not possess the technological assets nor the necessary capabilities required to handle the marketing and distribution of the final product in the global market. It is only recently that the Jamaican Government has formally acknowledged its commitment to the development of the music and entertainment industry, and recognized its economic importance. In its 1996 National Industrial Policy, the Government of Jamaica has identified this sector as a "winner" in its export strategy for the next millennium. The Jamaican economy has already lost substantial revenue through its laissez-faire policy towards the industry suggested by an absence of institutions to organize and promote it. The industry's contribution to the economy could be considerable. The music industry's total revenues surpass the earnings from sales of prerecorded music alone; they are also derived from public performance royalties to local songwriters and music publishers, income from local live performances and festivals, overseas concert tours and sale of ancillary merchandise. However, at the present time most of the value added from the international application of Jamaican music products is being made and realized by non-Jamaicans, since the local participants in the industry do not control the greater portion of the value-added chain, particularly the upstream (closer to the final consumer) activities. There have been several recent studies and reports executed about the Jamaican music industry which point to the considerable potential for the industry as the global market continues to grow. It has been estimated that Jamaican music generates in excess of US\$ 1 billion globally (Watson, 1995; Bourne et al., 1995; PIOJ, 1997), while in 1995 the total value of Jamaican exports amounted to US\$ 1,400 million. However, only a very small portion of this globally generated revenue is earned by Jamaicans or finds its way into the domestic economy.

To fulfil good intentions of making entertainment a vibrant, thriving export industry, a serious shift is needed in the official attitudes towards the industry, in particular to the music segment. Commitment to national institutions needs to be shown. A government entertainment/music entity needs to be established to coordinate all State-related activities required to facilitate the development of the industry; a national collective administration machinery for music copyrights and neighbouring rights; legislation and implementation of mechanisms required to effectively enforce copyrights; institutions and programmes for education and training; a tax and investment incentive regime; the provision of special project financing facilities; the formation of music industry associations; and the strengthening of the existing musicians' union (JFM) are steps which require immediate implementation if Jamaica is to begin to release the potential dynamism of the entertainment industry.

Jamaica's music industry has important externalities and indirect effects for the rest of the economy, such as the preservation and promotion of national culture, support of local talent, the stimulation of the creativity of the Jamaican population (especially the youth), poverty reduction, job creation, the provision of an increased tax base and consequently improved welfare of the local population. Despite the lack of formal structures and institutionalized support systems, the music product, aptly described as *Sounds of Jamaica*¹² (spear-headed by reggae), has established itself in international markets as a viable export product. After tourism, the music product has the potential to become Jamaica's most successful export. Now that there is growing interest in music particular to a geographical, ethnic, political or social location, there is a trend towards creation of global personalities who communicate across national borders and are the homogenous product of global media and communications networks. Reggae music is in the fortunate position of being able to 'cross over' between its ethnic and mainstream markets, but at present lacks a cohesive framework to develop and maximize this capacity. The music product is simultaneously a traditional as well as a non-traditional export of Jamaica with vastly untapped economic, social, and cultural potential and the economy stands to benefit significantly from realizing its full potential in terms of employment and revenue generation, leading to accelerated capital accumulation. The industry offers

Tourism and entertainment have been identified in the leading industrial cluster.

The "Sound of Jamaica" includes reggae, ska, dance hall, rock steady, mento, nyabinghi, fusion and instrumental/dub musical genres.

significant employment potential, including opportunities for self-employment, especially significant for the under-30s segment of the population with very high rates of unemployment – 59.3 per cent (JAMPRO, 1996). Jamaica releases more 45 singles recordings on a per capita basis than any other country in the world. Each week hundreds of new records are released, making it the most prolific producer of sound recordings in the world.

Currently (and historically) most of the local musicians and recording artists do not receive adequate compensation for their creative efforts, either through royalties or shares of income from the sale of recorded music. Moreover, they are not adequately trained and receive little support for improvement. There are numerous factors which account for the relative state of the industry's underdevelopment, such as: (a) inefficiency in manufacturing processes, in part associated with small scale, resulting from underdeveloped technological equipment and capabilities; (b) insufficiency of viable professional associations and other business support systems; (c) the institutional hiatus, witnessed by an absence of critical local institutions, such as a national collective administration agency for copyrights, effective professional musicians and producers' associations, and other requisite institutional support structures to complement and enhance the industry's innovative performance (UNCTAD, 1994).

The greater share of the value-added chain in the industry remains under control of the non-Jamaican industrial players, who remain fully outside the national system of innovation. Domestic firms' capabilities could be fostered in concert with other agents of NSI, in particular, the government which can play a catalytic role in the building of production, exporting, investment production, minor change, strategic marketing, distribution capabilities and entrepreneurial capabilities of this sector (see Ernst et al., 1998). Unless such capabilities are built up, the rapid rates of technological change which have thus far only benefited the industry's oligopolistic competitors (at the cutting edge of new micro-electronics technologies) will create too big a gulf and place these local firms at an even greater disadvantage. The rapid rate of application of new technologies is increasingly widening the technological gap between the producers in the North and the South, whose enterprise capabilities are currently not in a position to take advantage of the new windows of opportunity opened up by the more liberal trading environment.

C. Linkages with other sectors in the NSI

Jamaican music, in particular reggae, is a cultural treasure. Internationally, reggae has acted as a point of entry to Jamaica through music festivals, such as *Sumfest and Sunsplash*, which attract both foreigners and 'returning' Jamaican visitors. International links are reflected in the Jamaican diaspora, the historical reputation of Reggae and the increasing number of reggae festivals staged abroad. There is, however, insufficient material benefit from this success at the grassroots of the business in Jamaica.

The most obvious institutional link with other complementary sectors is tourism. Another important link which is not yet established in Jamaica relates to the information technology (IT) sector. Jamaica imports 100 per cent of all of musical instruments and equipment for transmission and distribution of music. A considerable portion of production of records and cassettes does not take place in the country and there is little evidence of any adaptive activity occurring in this field (no precise data are available as to the actual shares of output). Currently, insufficient linkages exist between these two sectors although the indirect link with the non-Jamaican IT sector is very strong, in particular through importation of equipment and recording materials. The music sector could serve as an important source of demand for the IT sector. Although links with the local IT sector potentially offer benefits to both sectors through a wide range of externalities, at the present time, these tend to be non-existent and are insufficiently developed. Closer linkages between these two sectors can exert a very positive impact on the industry's performance.

Linkages between music and other Jamaican industries, notably tourism, film and other cultural activities, have also been limited. The present structure of most music businesses, principally small or micro-enterprises, leads to a fragmented industry in which businesses are isolated and without institutional support to induce more cooperative behaviour, for example joint export consortia, joint marketing boards, and joint production and distribution facilities. The music industry's central bridge to the film industry is the music video. However, the present quality of music videos is below international standards and mainly produced for local and regional media. Currently, music videos are considered a major promotional tool for marketing of the music product, but the Jamaican film industry is inadequately developed to provide high quality music videos (at least in terms of quality, if not quantity). This important linkage requires substantial improvement and upgrading for promotional and marketing purposes aimed at exporting to developed markets.

At present global demand exceeds the supply of locally produced Jamaican music product. The British Phonographic Industry (BPI) which categorizes artists by nationality, recently estimated that 4.5 per cent of single record sales and 7 per cent of album sales in the United Kingdom were performed or written by Jamaicans. IFPI figures show demand for prerecorded music is highest in the under-30s age group who purchased 55 per cent of the total during 1987-1992. However, consumers over 45 still accounted for 15 per cent of the market, a share that is growing, not shrinking. The recent decline for Jamaican music in traditional international markets has been more than offset by the *emergence of new markets for reggae* in Africa, South America and Asia. This was recognized by Jamaican participation in the September 1997 MIDEM (the music industry's largest trade fair) held in Miami, which concentrated on the Central and South American markets.

For a break-down of global demand patterns, see RIIA (1994).

D. Globalization of the music industry: impact on the domestic music industry

Globalization of the music business exerts multiple and contradictory effects on this sector. While on the one hand, liberalization of goods and services offers many new opportunities to produce and export the music product without restrictions worldwide through improved market access, at the same time, this process has enabled even further concentration of the major record producers resulting in their increased control of the industry (see chapter III). In the 1980s, local markets enjoyed some degree of protection. This situation has, however, been radically altered in the 1990s, when the boundaries between local and international markets have become blurred. This process has widened further the technological gap between the producers in the North and the South leaving independent and small music producers in an arduous position. Application of information technologies in musical instrumentation, sound recording, distribution and almost every aspect of the music business have exerted adverse effects on the domestic industry as a whole and its ability to respond to the challenges of the new international trading environment. Currently the Jamaican music industry does not have the strengths or capabilities required to meet the export potential. Unless the local producers are able to upgrade their assets and capabilities, the risk of being left behind in the non-growth or very slow growth modes and of marginalization is greater than ever.

In order to respond to the new opportunities offered by the liberal trading system aimed at enhancing the overall capacities of developing countries, domestic industrial capabilities need to be built up and there is much room for policy. This need is more urgent than ever before owing to the intensified pace of technical change in the IT sector and its pivotal impact on the industry. The strengthening of supply capabilities is urgently required in order to take full advantage of the market access opportunities which have opened up for exports from the Caribbean region. This factor has been recognized as a condition *sine qua non* for a more effective strategic participation into the global market economy (UNCTAD, 1995a and 1996a; 1995b). With this objective in mind, adequate and appropriate assistance at all levels to the productive sector will be required to deal effectively with numerous transitional difficulties and constraints. Albeit critical, the role of the government and of the international community at large in the building up of the industry exceeds assistance in training and dissemination of information. Once appropriate policies and support structures are put in place – a strong export potential exists in the industry to make it a viable and lucrative segment of the entertainment industry with a significant contribution to the Jamaican economy.

The six major record companies control 80 per cent of the United States' recorded music market (JAMPRO, 1996), while five companies control 80 per cent of the EC market (EC, 1993).

E. Music industry revenues

At the present time, the Government of Jamaica is not in possession of any reliable data concerning the generated revenues from Jamaican music. There are no precise figures on the market value of reggae, although it is estimated that the potential global market value of reggae is US\$ 1.2 billion per annum (Bourne et al., 1995). Official export revenues generated by recorded music from Jamaica are small, relative to the real market values (JAMPRO, 1996/1997). Assessment of reggae record sales can only be estimated as the presently available secondary data on the industry offers conflicting information, however, consensus rules that the recorded figures supplied to STATION tend to be vastly underestimated (Bourne et al., 1995) and do not take into account income generated from international marketing and distribution handled by entities based outside of Jamaica.

Despite the lack of formal structures and institutionalized support systems, the music product has managed to establish itself globally. The music genre classified as "urban contemporary music" – which includes reggae, represents up to 7 per cent of the global market share, whose estimated value in 1996 amounted to US\$ 40 billion (RIIA, 1996). In the United Kingdom alone, 7 per cent of all albums sold are either performed or written by Jamaican composers. Currently it is impossible to ascertain the actual market shares occupied by reggae. Music categorizations are neither precise nor are they standardized internationally. Some countries include reggae into rap, whereas others do not; for example while the *rap* music category in the United States includes only some types of reggae, this is not the case in the United Kingdom. Tracking is almost impossible as most Jamaican music is not recorded on CDs but on technologically outdated formats, e.g. vinyl records and cassette tapes and are primarily distributed by entities which escape detection. Adequate tracking of sales of Jamaica-based products internationally is not available.

With regard to earnings from recorded music in the major markets of the United States, Japan Germany, France, the United Kingdom and Brazil, it has been observed that only in the United Kingdom is there a separate category for reggae. In other countries, reggae is included in rap, urban contemporary and even pop categories. It is therefore difficult to ascertain the actual market shares of reggae from the proceeds from recorded music. Even if this were possible, it would be necessary to take into account the fact that not all reggae is produced, performed and/or composed by Jamaicans. Only a portion of the global income from reggae is attributable to Jamaica. Based on data found in the sales charts in the major markets identified above, in the last 10-year period, as well as the level of concert tour activity for reggae

According to RIAA (1993), urban contemporary music occupied 9.9 per cent of the US overall market share – a figure reduced from 18.3 per cent in 1990.

Maxi Priest or UB 40, which is included in *Pop* or other musical categories.

acts in the same markets, it is reasonable to estimate that the worldwide income from recorded reggae music is not below 3 per cent of the global income. This implies that if in 1996 the global income generated from the sales of all recorded music was US\$ 40 billion, it could be reasonably deduced that reggae generated approximately US\$ 1.2 billion. With a conservative estimate that Jamaican producers, performers and songwriters account for approximately 25 per cent of this amount, it is estimated that for 1996 earnings from Jamaican recorded music amounted to US\$ 300 million. In addition, earnings from concert tours, ancillary merchandise and production services, as well as the export and other international sales of vinyl recordings through networks not captured in the data provided in the above major markets, need to be taken into account. The estimated value of these untracked activities approximately amounts to US\$ 150 million, resulting in a total of US\$ 450 million for 1996.

Recent trends (1995-1998) indicate a decline in reggae sales and tours in all major music markets. This is partly attributable to the cyclical decline in sales experienced in most music genres worldwide. Another significant factor contributing to the decline can be associated with the recent break down in relations between some major US-based record companies and several leading Jamaican reggae artists. The termination of recording contracts has resulted in a decline of promotional activities for these artists and consequently decline in their sales. According to industry specialists, the following factors have contributed to the break down: (a) unprofessionalism on the part of the artists themselves, who lack a general understanding of international business practices; and (b) unwillingness on the part of the foreign companies to accommodate different business and creative practices and routines from the ones they are familiar with. The recent slump in sales of Jamaican music can also be attributed to the saturation of the US, Western European and Japanese markets for recorded music in general and the resultant shift to new and emerging markets, in particular in Asia and Latin America. The interest of the six majors record companies in Jamaican music has been primarily for sale in the mature Western European, US and Japanese markets.

The artistic community needs to become more cognizant of the differences between the creative side of the their profession and the business dimension which is also an important element of the music industry. Such diverse starting points have in the past made it very difficult for Jamaican artists and North American and United Kingdom record companies to interface with each other in a mutually beneficial way. In more successful industries elsewhere, this problem has been circumvented through the use of professional agents, managers, or lawyers who represent the musicians' interests and who understand the business culture and mentality that prevail in the markets of more advanced market economies.

F. Current industrial structure of the Jamaican music industry

Jamaican manufacturing processes are still largely confined to the vinyl records, which have been in global decline since the late 1970s. The global cassette market is also shrinking rapidly. The prominence of CDs in global markets is well documented (Krasilovsky and Shemel, 1995).¹⁷ The widespread use of new formats – CDs, CD ROMS, digital video discs (DVDs) and digital recordings – have made the Jamaican music manufacturing process obsolete. The lack of a CD manufacturing plant in Jamaica, or indeed within the Caribbean, signifies that quality production for mass markets is situated well away from Jamaica. However, Jamaica has adequate recording studio facilities for the production of masters.

In order to reap economies of scale, the industry's expansion towards the Caribbean and the global market is considered essential. In the particular case of the music business – which is peculiar in many ways – both the performer-producer as well as the customer-user is mobile, thus relieving the locational constraint from the production process. Local artists can perform and earn revenues worldwide. Physical mobility is an important factor related to expansion of market size, which could potentially offer a significant advantage to the industry and should not be overlooked in the elaboration of a comprehensive industrial development plan for the industry.

The industry is characterized by a lack of an organizational structure, contributing to the inability of the sector to earn profits comparable to those in more developed market economies. Further studies are required prior to the elaboration of a development plan for the industry as regards the most appropriate model of industrial development. Several models have been proposed, such as the US one (Watson, 1995), the clustering model found in certain regions in Italy (e.g. Emilia-Romagna), or the Irish model, and so forth. At this stage, it is not obvious which is the most advisable model to implement. Further research is highly recommended in this area.

G. Opportunities for creative partnerships

Firms upgrade their products through product and process innovations with which they can penetrate new markets. This process can be facilitated by networking and creative partnerships with more advanced MNCs, through joint ventures which may lead to transfers of knowledge. Foreign direct investment (FDI) is not, however, without costs nor should it be seen as a substitute for domestic

Globally CDS have achieved 93 per cent market share of the market for recorded music. In the United States, which accounts for 36 per cent of Jamaica's exports of recorded music, CDS dominate 97 per cent of the same market. In Europe, with 33 per cent of Jamaica's exports, CDS control 97 per cent of the market, while in Japan, with 15 per cent of Jamaica's exports, CDS control 99 per cent (IFPI, 1994).

investment. The building of domestic supply capabilities remains critical. This, however, can only be achieved through a complex mixture of incentives, institutions and capabilities. With this in mind, one option which deserves serious consideration relates to encouragement of creative partnerships with music business companies in more advanced countries through for instance, encouragement of technology licence agreements and marketing and distribution joint ventures. In this context, technology transfer policies could be encouraged through appropriate targeting of MNCs, particularly as technological development of modern production advances rapidly. The government could consider targeting investors particularly in Asian countries which could offer some interesting cross country learning experiences in the manufacturing of CDs and greater use of information technologies in almost all aspects of the music business.

Creative partnerships between Jamaican companies and foreign ones should be encouraged with leading local record companies, like Tuff Gong, Penthouse, Music Works, Madhouse, Studio 2000, Main Street and Taxi Productions, through provision of market and non-market incentives. Future foreign investment is likely to result from improved technological capabilities, application of new and improved technologies in microelectronics and information-technologies, i.e. FDI tends to gravitate towards high-tech areas. The government could promote networking which would enable domestic firms to upgrade their products, methods of production, increase market shares in existing markets as well as penetrate new markets, through a combination of policies focused on investment-promotion and provision of productivity-enhancing incentives. Furthermore, responsible public agencies can support the development of this sector through the promotion of partnerships with the private sector through joint ventures and innovative approaches to strategic alliances with other entities in the Caribbean region. In particular, alliances with Cuba should be vigorously pursued as that island's music figures prominently in the reported increase in global market share enjoyed by the Latin American region.

The Jamaican reggae beat has experienced significant popularity in several Latin American countries giving rise to the formation of many very successful Latin American reggae bands. Jamaican reggae music has not, however, enjoyed the same level of success as that experienced by a number of Latin bands primarily owing to the language barrier. However, it is significant to note that many of the successful Latin and Brazilian bands have incorporated Jamaican music styles such as Ska and Dance Hall in their recordings and performances. Collaboration between Cuban and Jamaican artists and producers to create a fusion of Latin reggae could prove to be very successful in Latin markets.

Quality production is only a small part of what is required for success in the global market place as accessing distribution plays a key part in increasing value added for the local industry. For a Jamaican artist to reach a world market, this usually means making a contract with a foreign production and distribution company. One successful example of this kind of networking arrangement can be found in London, with a leading UK reggae distribution company which provides sales, marketing, and distribution

services for Jamaican labels and has a successful series of compilation albums. It distributes labels either by licence, where it pays a percentage to the producer of the label and manufacture under its own label, or by taking a percentage from a Jamaican-based producer to distribute his products on his own Jamaican label. This well-established company uses facilities based in London to manufacture CDs from masters it receives from Jamaica. A continued strong Jamaican presence at the annual music fair in France (MIDEM) may be the start of more useful contacts. The weak point in the system of distribution and marketing is delivery of music to the market place and the perceived nature of the product supplied. Media access and exposure is universally weak. In part this may reflect confusion by the media about the brand characteristics of what reggae constitutes.¹⁸

Given such constraints, Jamaican domestic production sells mostly in the domestic and ethnic international markets, where maximum sales of a disc are 30,000 but typically between 5,000 and 20,000. Local producers complain that some artists are too confined in their ambition, content to stay in the domestic and ethnic international markets yet wishing to "get rich quick". Producers without affordable access to wholesale and retail outlets overseas and to loan finance are trapped between demands for immediate royalties and the costs of record production and pressing, labels and promotion. Wholesale and retail markets are highly structured with large distributors controlling chains of retail shops in many countries, and trends in developed markets continue to confirm the significance of scale economies in this area. Initiatives to pursue joint ventures to gain access to foreign markets and media would be advisable. Such initiatives would need to be fully compatible with the obligations incurred by Jamaica in the World Trade Organization (WTO).¹⁹

V. NSI AND THE MUSIC INDUSTRY

A. Local institutional players

Within the government there are a number of ministries and agencies with activities which impact on the music industry, namely the: (a) Office of the Prime Minister's Information Division (responsible for media policy); (b) Ministry of Industry and Investment (responsible for JAMPRO – Jamaica Film,

For example, the BBC (United Kingdom) does not see reggae as daytime music, confining it to an ethnic slot at midnight on Saturday night. Local UK radio stations are a little more accessible, but white-owned stations rarely promote reggae accepted as a cultural norm despite its wide popularity. The present level of access is sustained by "champions" – DJs who have ensured continued play through "sound systems". They have developed the technology to operate radio stations, but lack capital and organization.

WTO membership, however, may imply that the application of some of the measures discussed above will be more difficult than before.

Music and Entertainment Commission); (c) Tourist Board; (d) JAMPRO; (e) Jamaica Cultural Development Commission (JCDC); (f) Ministry of Education, Youth and Culture; (g) Ministry of Commerce and Technology (Copyright Unit); (h) Creative Production and Training Center; (i) Broadcasting Commission; and (j) Social Development Commission. However, despite the existence of so many public entities, there has been no positive discernable government policy and very little impact on the industry. For the most part, these public entities tend to operate independently of each other and appear not to interface effectively.

A more efficient organizational innovation might be a single, relatively autonomous agency staffed with industry specialists and informed government officials, which would be in a position to liaise with the industry's participants as well as coordinate the activities of other ministries and agencies. The present Jamaica Film, Music and Entertainment Commission could be restructured into such an agency. Private sector industry representation on the board of directors of any such agency is considered critical to a demand-led approach to the industry's development.

Within the music industry itself, there presently exists only one professional institution, an artists' and musicians' union called the Jamaican Federation of Musicians, JFM, established 40 years ago. Although the union has in excess of 2,000 members, its effectiveness could be greatly enhanced. The union has been actively involved in a number of initiatives in conjunction with other players in the industry, e.g. JAMPRO, the Copyright Unit and the JCDC, such as training workshops, copyright reforms and administration, and the development of proposals for the establishment of an investment and tax incentive regime for the industry. Recent developments include the initiative to establish a music copyrights collective administration agency called the *Jamaica Association of Composers*, *Authors and Publishers*, *JACAP*, and a music industry trade organization. The development process for these new private sector institutions has been long and difficult owing to lack of unity and mistrust among the industry players and the generally low level of understanding of the business of music among the majority of the industry's participants. A public *music and entertainment industry board* could potentially act as a catalyst for the formation of private sector industry organizations through appropriately designed policies aimed at encouraging the industry's evolution towards a modern, competitive one.

B. Product development through innovation

In recent times, some worrisome trends have been recognized, namely the music product itself is not evolving as it did in the 1960s, 1970s and early 1980s. Drawn by high profit rates made by the original artists and performers, a large influx of semi-skilled, poorly trained individuals and semi-professional producers flooded the Jamaican music scene. Consequently, the quality of song composition and musical

competence has been on the decline, largely associated with the uncontrolled entry of the mass of ill-trained artists, composers and "music executives". Nevertheless, despite the low quality, their recordings receive support from the local radio stations as disc jockeys, are offered financial and other favours in return for playing the songs (the *payola* system). This highly anarchic and rent-seeking environment has had a negative impact on product quality.

With a view to remedying this situation, it has been suggested that the following measures be urgently considered: (a) the imposition by commercial radio and TV stations of strict music programming policies; (b) the organization of workshops and training sessions for songwriters, musicians and producers utilizing the services of experienced local and foreign personnel; (c) increased collaboration between local songwriters and producers with foreign composers, producers and artists; and (d) the implementation of a local product content quota system for domestic radio and television stations. Slow product development has consequently resulted in weak international air play and poor global distribution. The following areas have been targeted for development in this context: (a) foreign language recordings, and the development of new compositions; (b) product diversification through technological upgrading (JAMPRO, 1996).

C. New technology and product development

Adoption of new technologies by the Jamaican firms who participated in the survey, particularly information technologies by recording studios, specifically in the second half of the 1980s has facilitated the speed and flexibility in production, reduced production costs and improved the quality of sound recordings. These firms identify the success of their business with the application of new technologies. Although willing to invest in new technologies and try out new methods of production, they are unable to do so owing to lack of resources and access to finance. The currently prevailing financial and market conditions, witnessed by deflationary policies and tight macroeconomic conditions are not conducive to investment in the industry, either domestic or foreign.

D. Foreign investment

Currently, there is practically no significant foreign investment in the industry. With the exception of one completed recording studio project, and another "in the pipeline", there is no foreign investment in the industry's production and manufacturing facilities. A few foreign-based companies continue to invest in recording projects to produce the actual masters, but the scale of this investment is considered insignificant.

E. Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) and new technologies

A highly worrisome area in the business relates to copyright enforcement resulting from lack of respect and appreciation of IPRs generally and particularly of copyrights among both the users and the music creators in Jamaica and the extended Jamaican communities in North America and in the United Kingdom, which presents many problems to the legitimate industry's efforts to develop.

The Jamaican music industry suffers from considerable financial losses as a result of piracy. It is vital to establish effective copyright protection and enforcement mechanisms. The advent of new microelectronics in the music business has enabled piracy of Jamaican music at an unprecedented rate. Furthermore, new technologies have made enforcement of property rights a tough challenge. Presently, almost anything can be copied rapidly and cheaply, quickly replicated at high quality and subsequently distributed via Internet in a variety of formats. Preventing reproduction of music material has become literally impossible. These trends adversely effect the recorded music industry where it is estimated that CD pirates hold up to a 20 per cent share of the global market. "The legal system may be able to stop factories from copying and selling CDs or books in volume, but it cannot stop individuals from replicating the materials for themselves or selling small numbers to their friends" (Thurow, 1997).

Enforcement of copyrights is a highly problematic area in Jamaica, although the present copyright law, which has been updated to international standards in 1993, is considered adequate. Moreover, copyright laws need to keep up with technology and adequate domestic IPR systems need to be established to incorporate the conventional reciprocal arrangements with IPR systems in external markets to enable global collections of copyright royalties. The failure to develop adequate means for the enforcement of copyrights will result in adverse effects on the industry as too much "free" use of musical expression tends to discourage songwriters and producers from creating new works. Musicians in Jamaica are at present not being properly rewarded for their creativity. This discourages further creativity and innovation in the music product. In order to develop new products and processes, individuals must have the monetary incentives to do so. Developing new knowledge (or a new song) is neither cost less, easy, nor a quick process. Better incentive systems will lead to production of new musical compositions. Innovation in this industry occurs primarily in the private sector, for that reason there is a strong need for stronger private incentives. An adequate system of IPRs is consequently an important incentive for innovation in the music industry. Copyright gives a temporary monopoly to the creator over his/her work which enables extra normal profits – the main financial incentives for innovation. Copyrights may be sold or leased to other entities. Private monopoly rights, which the copyright system establishes thus encourages innovation in the music product. On the other hand, the wider the distribution of the new knowledge (or a new song), the greater the benefits to the society. Any well-functioning system of IPRs

needs to address this paradox and make the necessary tradeoff between individual and social interests at large.

The existing institutions in Jamaica are too weak to develop adequate infrastructure for the music industry. Most notably absent is an enforceable legal framework to protect intellectual property rights. At present Jamaica does not have a national collection agency in place to deal with the administration of mechanical rights and the resultant royalties due to songwriters and publishers from record sales, neither is there an agency in place to represent the owners of neighbouring rights. The only collection agency operating in the country is the UK-based PRS which deals exclusively with the administration of public performance rights. Recently, efforts have been made by the industry to establish a Jamaican collective administration agency to deal with both public performance and mechanical rights. This agency, the Jamaica Association of Composers, Authors and Publishers (JACAP) is still being formalized.²⁰

F. Identification of the main challenges for the industry's development

Interviews with Jamaican artists, managers and producers confirmed the absence of foundations for a modern competitive industry. Access to finance capital is prohibitive and there are too few development bank loans. There is no industrial association to coordinate access to financial services or make effective representations to government, for example over import taxes on musical equipment. The main barriers to entry to global markets have been characterized as being:

- (i) Political and cultural: insufficient public sector support for the industry; public perception of the sector needs to be changed, from being part of the underclass, black subculture to being main streamed as a legitimate business. Many performers and musicians perceive government as well as private sector industry players as being insensitive and hostile to their interests and needs.
- (ii) Institutional: absence of an effective institutional framework incorporating both the private sector and government organizations; lack of industry specialists in government entities to enhance public sector effectiveness and credibility.
- (iii) Technological: the industry is characterized by an abundance of minimum-sized production and distribution units which are unable to exploit internationally the industry's products. Average company size tends to be too small, while plant and equipment, on the average, tends to be obsolescent. Personnel generally does not possess the necessary technological

Several Caribbean countries have demonstrated a willingness to establish collective administration agencies within the region and thereby reduce their dependence on PRS. There has even been an initiative towards exploring regional cooperation in collective administration of copyrights; WIPO has been active in this field.

skills to run up-to-date facilities. Current facilities, which tend to be on the average technologically outmoded, require considerable upgrading through the tangible and intangible assets. There is also lack of technological assets and marketing capabilities required to manufacture and export the final product. Traditionally,musical instruments and equipment were considered luxury items and thus taxed with high import duties which discouraged their importation and wide use to the obvious detriment of the industry's technological advancement. Additionally, presently existing performance facilities are inadequate (traditional 700 to 1000 seats); there is a need for facilities for larger audiences. Absent also is applied use of information technology.

- (iv) Weak linkages with NSI: Linkages amongst the players in the industry itself are weak as witnessed by an absence of professional associations and industry-based institutions. Weak or ineffective links between the music sector and the following sectors in NSI tend to prevail:
 (a) public sector institutions; (b) R&D sector: local versus international; (c) domestic IT sector; (d) other complementary sectors of the economy, e.g. tourism, film, dance; (e) the National Statistical Office and other official data-gathering agencies: the industry has very weak institutional links with any official economic and statistical agencies. Official data on economic performance of the industry is currently unavailable resulting in a serious gap in data collection.
- (v) Financial: a credibility gap exists between government and the industry with regard to finance and investment. Finance for innovation remains a major weakness of the system. The majority of the firms participating in the survey experienced major problems in obtaining finance for innovation, from either public or private (prohibitively expensive) sources. Venture capital and other finance facilities offering credit at favourable rates for this sector are not available. Increased credit allocation is essential for the evolution of the industry, in particular considering the need for upgrading of its plant and equipment. An appropriate investment and tax incentive regime should be designed and implemented as soon as possible.
- (vi) *Human resources*: low level of music business professional expertise in such areas as artist management and development, law and marketing; human resources generally tend to be underdeveloped for the requirements of the global economy and need upgrading. The creative talents are also in need of upgrading. Education and training has been a victim of macroeconomic constraints which have severely reduced music and drama education in schools, diminishing the initial pool of talent available to the business. It also has precluded introduction of technical skills training, in particular electronics training, for an industry where the latest production methods continue to rely on technical advances as the trend towards electronic distribution of music products continues. Absent also is applied use of information

technology, business organization, management and marketing skills to the music business. There is need for enhanced opportunities in musical training facilities, allied with a need for some degree of diversification in the types of training offered at all stages, including band development programmes in underprivileged areas of the urban centres.

VI. NSI IN JAMAICA: POLICY OPTIONS

Linkages between the music sector and the NSI in general are broadly informal and underdeveloped. As described above, the evolution of the music industry in isolation from mainstream Jamaican economic development has curtailed both backward and forward linkages within the NSI framework. Currently, Jamaica's national system of innovation is in a fledgling stage. A stronger system, however, will not emerge spontaneously but needs to be carefully nurtured through effective policies, based on an interplay between stronger incentives, institutions and capabilities. Moreover, in today's globalizing world, technology issues are increasingly linked to trade and investment. Policy measures to strengthen the NSI must consequently be consistent with wider economic objectives at the macroeconomic and structural levels. Insufficient dynamic interactions prevail amongst the major players in the Jamaican economy and deficiencies lay at both the supply and demand side of the equation. Jamaica's new technology policy needs to go beyond the traditional *supply-side* concept directed predominantly at promotion of research activities in the public sphere to demand side approach. It is not difficult to imagine that implementation of such a policy will meet major problems, but this is unavoidable. The lack of a systemic approach to innovation policy in Jamaica hampers industrial development in general.

In conclusion, the nature of competitiveness over the last two decades has changed dramatically. Traditional industries and low cost commodities no longer provide the answers to successful competitiveness. Under the new global trading regime, it is imperative to diversify into other activities, like services and other non-traditional sectors. The Jamaican music product has already demonstrated its comparative advantage on global markets. As competition is becoming increasingly based on innovation in designing new products, ensuring new quality output, modifying production processes and diversifying into specialist niche markets, the Jamaican music segment of its audiovisual services may provide the alternative, albeit risky, but with high potential returns.

In order for Jamaica to become a globally competitive player in the business of music, the government should take the lead role by formulating and clearly stating a definitive policy on entertainment, and in particular, the music sector. Government initiative seems absolutely necessary, owing to the lack of cooperation within the private sector. It will also be necessary for music industry practitioners, members of the educational and academic communities and providers of financial and other business support services to cooperate with government in designing and implementing strategies to

reduce the existing barriers to enterprise development and greater participation in the global music market. The cooperative effort between government and private sector interests could result in the formulation of a comprehensive music industry development plan to be implemented over a three- to five-year period. Such a plan would need to address, inter alia, the weak institutional and legal framework which now exists, as well as the requirement for better facilities to enhance product and human resource development and the obstacles to participation by domestic music producers in a greater portion of the value added from the commercial use of Jamaican music in the global market. An assessment of the current production capabilities of local enterprises and the incorporation of existing industry development programmes into the design of an appropriate development strategy, are the critical steps which require immediate attention.

REFERENCES

- ALEXANDER, P. (1994), "Entry Barriers, Release Behaviour and Multi-Product Firms in the Music Recording Industry", *Review of Industrial Organization*, Vol. 9, pp. 85-98.
- BAUMOL, W.J. and W.G. BOWEN (1987), *Performing Arts The Economic Dilemma* (New York: Twentieth Century Fund; Cambridge, MA: MIT Press).
- BOURNE, COMPTON and S.M. ALLGROVE (1995), *Prospects for Exports of Entertainment Services from the Caribbean: The Case of Music*, World Bank Report (Washington, D.C.: The World Bank).
- COASE, R.H. (1966), "The Economics of Broadcasting and Government Policy", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 56, May, pp. 440-466.
- EC (1993, 1997), Panorama of E.C. Industry (Brussels: Commission of the European Union).
- ___ (1998), Follow-up to the Green Paper on Copyright and Related Rights (Brussels: Commission of the European Communities).
- DYSON, K. and P. HUMPHRIES et al. (1988), *Broadcasting and New Media Policies in Western Europe* (London: Routledge).
- ERNST, D., T. GANIATSOS and L. MYTELKA (1998), *Technological Capabilities and Export Success in Asia* (London: Routledge).
- FINK, M. (1989), Inside the Music Business (New York: Schirmer Books).
- IFPI (1994), Statistical Handbook (London: International Federation of the Phonographic Industry).
- ___ (1997), *The Recording Industry 1997 in Numbers* (London: International Federation of the Phonographic Industry).
- JAMPRO (1996/1997), Marketing Plan for Music and Entertainment (Kingston: Jamaica Film, Music and Entertainment Commission).
- KIM, L. (1993), "National System of Industrial Innovation: Dynamics of Capability Building in Korea", in R. Nelson (ed.), *National Innovation Systems: A Comparative Analysis* (Oxford: Oxford University Press).
- KOZUL-WRIGHT, Z. (1995), "The Role of the Firm in the Innovation Process", UNCTAD Discussion Paper No. 98 (Geneva: UNCTAD), April.
- KRASILOVSKY, W. and S. SHEMEL (1995), This Business of Music (New York: Billboard Books).
- LALL, S. (1995), "Science and Technology in the New Global Environment: Implications for Developing Countries", paper written in collaboration with the UNCTAD secretariat (Geneva: UNCTAD).
- LUNDVALL, B.A. (ed.) (1992), *National Systems of Innovation, Towards a Theory of Innovation and Interactive Learning* (London: Pinter Publishers).
- LUNDVALL, B.A. (1993), in R. Nelson (ed.), *National Innovation Systems: A Comparative Analysis* (Oxford: Oxford University Press).
- MBI (1998), The MBI World Report (London: Music Business International).
- NELSON, R. (ed.) (1993), National Innovation Systems: A Comparative Analysis (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

- OPM (1996), *Jamaica National Industrial Policy* (Kingston: Office of the Prime Minister, Government of Jamaica), April.
- PARISOTTO, A. (1997), "Transnational Corporations and the Emerging Global Media Markets", in Y. Aharoni (ed.), The Changing Role of State Intervention in Services in an Era of Open International Markets (New York: New York State University Press).

PIOJ (Planning Institute of Jamaica) (1997), Economic Update and Outlook, Vol. 1, No. 4.

RIIA (1993 and 1996), Annual Report (Washington: Recording Industry Association of America).

___ (1994), Chilton Survey (Washington: Recording Industry Association of America).

SCHUMPETER, J. (1987), Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy, 8th edition (London: Unwin).

SHAW, A. (1987), The Jazz Age (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

SIJ (1996), *The Macro Economy* (Kingston: Statistical Institute of Jamaica).

THUROW, L. (1997), "Needed: A New System of Intellectual Property Rights", *Harvard Business Review*, No. 1, September-October.

TOLL, R. (1982), The Entertainment Machine (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

UN (various years), International Trade Statistics Yearbook (New York: United Nations).

- UNCTAD (1994, 1995a, 1996a), *Trade and Development Report*, UN sales publication (New York and Geneva: United Nations).
- (1995b), *Globalization and Liberalization*, Report by the Secretary-General of UNCTAD to the Ninth Session of UNCTAD (TD/366/Rev.1) (Geneva: United Nations).
- ___ (1996b), "Current Developments and Trade Issues in Audio-Visual Services With Special Reference to the People's Republic of China", based on a paper prepared by S. Christopherson, mimeo (Geneva: UNCTAD).
- (1998), STIP (Science, Technology and Innovation Policy) Review: Jamaica and Review: Colombia (New York and Geneva: United Nations).

VOGEL, H.L. (1998), Entertainment Industry Economics (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

WATSON, P. (1995), "The Situational, Analysis of the Entertainment (Recorded Music) Industry" (Kingston: The Planning Institute of Jamaica).

UNCTAD Discussion Papers

No. 52, December 1992	Dwight H. PERKINS	China's `gradual' approach to market reforms
No. 53, December 1992	Patricio MELLER	Latin American adjustment and economic reforms: Issues and recent experience
No. 54, January 1993	Trevor GARDNER	The present economic situation in Zambia and the role of privatisation in improving its economy
No. 55, February 1993	Alexandre R. BARROS	Prospects for world sugar trade
No. 56, March 1993	Yilmaz AKYÜZ	Financial liberalization: The key issues
No. 57, April 1993	Alice H. AMSDEN	Structural macroeconomic underpinnings of effective industrial policy: Fast growth in the 1980s in five Asian countries
No. 58, April 1993	Celso ALMEIDA	Development and transfer of environmentally sound technologies in manufacturing: A survey
No. 59, May 1993	Ali-Reza NIKPAY	Privatization in Eastern Europe: A survey of the main issues
No. 60, July 1993	Jean-Marc FONTAINE	Reforming public enterprises and the public sector in sub-Saharan Africa
No. 61, July 1993	Korkut BORATAV	Public sector, public intervention and economic development
No. 62, July 1993	Roberto FRENKEL	Growth and structural reform in Latin America: Where we stand
No 63, July 1993	Machiko NISSANKE & Priya BASU	Mobilization and allocation of domestic savings: A study on Bhutan
No. 64, July 1993	Machiko NISSANKE & Priya BASU	Mobilization and allocation of domestic savings A case study on Nepal
No. 65, August 1993	Ercan UYGUR	Liberalization and economic performance in Turkey
No. 66, August 1993	Yilmaz AKYÜZ	Maastricht and fiscal retrenchment in Europe
No. 67, September 1993	Cem SOMEL	The State in economic activity: Problems of economic policy-making
No. 68, September 1993	Andrew CORNFORD	The role of the Basle Committee on Banking Super- vision in the regulation of international banking
No. 69, September 1993	Sebastian SCHICH	The level and volatility of external financial positions and the costs of export credit insurance
No. 70, October 1993	Veena JHA, René VOSSENAAR & Simonetta ZARRILLI	Ecolabelling and international trade
No.71, October 1993	Adolfo CANITROT	The exchange rate as an instrument of trade policy
No. 72, October 1993	Xiaoning J. ZHAN	North American economic integration and its implications for the exports of China and Hong Kong
No. 73, November 1993	J.H. REICHMAN	Implications of the Draft TRIPS Agreement for developing countries as competitors in an integrated world market

No. 74, November 1993	Priya BASU & Norman GEMMELL	Fiscal adjustment in the Gambia: A case study
No. 75, November 1993	William W.F. CHOA	The relevance of market structure to technological progress: A case study of the chemical industry
No. 76, December 1993	Ajit SINGH	The Plan, the market and evolutionary economic reform in China
No. 77, January 1994	Shigehisa KASAHARA	A rescue plan for the post-bubble Japanese economy: The establishment of the Cooperative Credit Purchasing Company
No. 78, January 1994	Jean K. THISEN	The European Single Market and its possible effects on African external trade
No.79, February 1994	Kálmán KALOTAY & Ana María ALVAREZ	Emerging stock markets and the scope for regional cooperation
No. 80, February 1994	Edouard DOMMEN	Développement durable: Mots-déclic
*No. 81, March 1994	Juan A. DE CASTRO	The internalization of external environmental costs and sustainable development
No. 82: WITHDRAWN		
No.83, May 1994	Yilmaz AKYÜZ & Andrew CORNFORD	Regimes for international capital movements and some proposals for reform
No. 84, May 1994	David FELIX	Industrial development in East Asia: What are the lessons for Latin America?
No. 85, July 1994	S.M. SHAFAEDDIN	The impact of trade liberalization on export and GDP growth in least developed countries
No. 86, July 1994	Raju J. SINGH	Bank credit, small firms and the design of a financial system for Eastern Europe
No. 87, July 1994	Thomas ZIESEMER	Economic development and endogenous terms- of-trade determination: Review and reinterpretation of the Presbisch-Singer Thesis
No. 88, August 1994	Sebastian SCHICH	The payment arrangements in the trade of CEECs and LDCs between 1986 and 1994
*No. 89, September 1994	Veena JHA & Ana Paola TEIXEIRA	Are environmentally sound technologies the Emperor's new clothes?
No. 90, October 1994	Manuel R. AGOSIN	Saving and investment in Latin America
No. 91, October 1994	Yilmaz AKYÜZ & Charles GORE	The investment-profits nexus in East Asian industrialization
No. 92, November 1994	Charles GORE	Development strategy in East Asian newly industrializing economies: The experience of post-war Japan, 1953-1973
No. 93, December 1994	J. F. OUTREVILLE	Life insurance in developing countries: A cross-country analysis
No. 94, January 1995	XIE Ping	Financial services in China
No. 95, January 1995	William W.F. CHOA	The derivation of trade matrices by commodity groups in current and constant prices
No. 96, February 1995	Alexandre R. BARROS	The role of wage stickiness in economic growth

^{*} Out of stock.

No. 97, February 1995	Ajit SINGH	How did East Asia grow so fast? Slow progress towards an analytical consensus
No. 98, April 1995	Z. KOZUL-WRIGHT	The role of the firm in the innovation process
No. 99, May 1995	Juan A. DE CASTRO	Trade and labour standards: Using the wrong instruments for the right cause
No. 100, August 1995	Roberto FRENKEL	Macroeconomic sustainability and development prospects: Latin American performance in the 1990s
No. 101, August 1995	R. KOZUL-WRIGHT & Paul RAYMENT	Walking on two legs: Strengthening democracy and productive entrepreneurship in the transition economies
No. 102, August 1995	J.C. DE SOUZA BRAGA M.A. MACEDO CINTRA & Sulamis DAIN	Financing the public sector in Latin America
No. 103, September 1995	Toni HANIOTIS & Sebastian SCHICH	Should governments subsidize exports through export credit insurance agencies?
No. 104, September 1995	Robert ROWTHORN	A simulation model of North-South trade
No. 105, October 1995	Giovanni N. DE VITO	Market distortions and competition: the particular case of Malaysia
No. 106, October 1995	John EATWELL	Disguised unemployment: The G7 experience
No. 107, November 1995	Luisa E. SABATER	Multilateral debt of least developed countries
No. 108, November 1995	David FELIX	Financial globalization versus free trade: The case for the Tobin tax
No. 109, December 1995	Urvashi ZUTSHI	Aspects of the final outcome of the negotiations on financial services of the Uruguay Round
No. 110, January 1996	H.A.C. PRASAD	Bilateral terms of trade of selected countries from the South with the North and the South
No. 111, January 1996	Charles GORE	Methodological nationalism and the misunder- standing of East Asian industrialization
No. 112, March 1996	Djidiack FAYE	Aide publique au développement et dette extérieure: Quelles mesures opportunes pour le financement du secteur privé en Afrique?
No. 113, March 1996	Paul BAIROCH & Richard KOZUL-WRIGHT	Globalization myths: Some historical reflections on integration, industrialization and growth in the world economy
No. 114, April 1996	Rameshwar TANDON	Japanese financial deregulation since 1984
No. 115, April 1996	E.V.K. FITZGERALD	Intervention versus regulation: The role of the IMF in crisis prevention and management
No. 116, June 1996	Jussi LANKOSKI	Controlling agricultural nonpoint source pollution: The case of mineral balances
No.117, August 1996	José RIPOLL	Domestic insurance markets in developing countries: Is there any life after GATS?
No. 118, September 1996	Sunanda SEN	Growth centres in South East Asia in the era of globalization
No. 119, September 1996	Leena ALANEN	The impact of environmental cost internalization on sectoral competitiveness: A new conceptual framework

No. 120, October 1996	Sinan AL-SHABIBI	Structural adjustment for the transition to disarmament: An assessment of the role of the market
No. 121, October 1996	J.F. OUTREVILLE	Reinsurance in developing countries: Market structure and comparative advantage
No. 122, December 1996	Jörg MAYER	Implications of new trade and endogenous growth theories for diversification policies of commodity-dependent countries
No. 123, December 1996	L. RUTTEN & L. SANTANA-BOADO	Collateralized commodity financing with special reference to the use of warehouse receipts
No. 124, March 1997	Jörg MAYER	Is having a rich natural-resource endowment detrimental to export diversification?
No. 125, April 1997	Brigitte BOCOUM	The new mining legislation of Côte d'Ivoire: Some comparative features
No. 126, April 1997	Jussi LANKOSKI	Environmental effects of agricultural trade liberalization and domestic agricultural policy reforms
No. 127, May 1997	Raju Jan SINGH	Banks, growth and geography
No. 128, September 1997	E. COSIO-PASCAL	Debt sustainability and social and human devel- opment: The net transfer approach and a com- ment on the so-called "net" present value calculation for debt relief
No. 129, September 1997	Andrew J. CORNFORD	Selected features of financial sectors in Asia and their implications for services trade
No. 130, March 1998	Matti VAINIO	The effect of unclear property rights on environmental degradation and increase in poverty
No. 131, Feb./March 1998	Robert ROWTHORN & Richard KOZUL-WRIGHT	Globalization and economic convergence: An assessment
No. 132, March 1998	Martin BROWNBRIDGE	The causes of financial distress in local banks in Africa and implications for prudential policy
No. 133, March 1998	Rubens LOPES BRAGA	Expanding developing countries' exports in a global economy: The need to emulate the strategies used by transnational corporations for international business development
No. 134, April 1998	A.V. GANESAN	Strategic options available to developing countries with regard to a Multilateral Agreement on Investment
No. 135, May 1998	Jene K. KWON	The East Asian model: An exploration of rapid economic growth in the Republic of Korea and Taiwan Province of China
No. 136, June 1998	JOMO K.S. & M. ROCK	Economic diversification and primary commodity processing in the second-tier South-East Asian newly industrializing countries
No. 137, June 1998	Rajah RASIAH	The export manufacturing experience of Indonesia, Malaysia and Thailand: Lessons for Africa

Copies of *UNCTAD Discussion Papers* and *Reprint Series* may be obtained from the Editorial Assistant, Macroeconomic and Development Policies, GDS, UNCTAD, Palais des Nations, CH-1211 Geneva 10, Switzerland (Tel. 41-22-907.5733; Fax 41-22-907.0274; E.mail: nicole.winch@unctad.org).